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St. Botolphs

SM892077            OS 25” 1st edition sheet XXXIII.9             Steynton  

Also 1942 revised edition map at County Library, Haverfordwest.

Mansion and Stable Court separately CADW listed Grade II.
From The St. Botolphs Story by Marion Martin in the West Wales Guardian of 31st December 1971:

The Priory of Pill was dedicated to Saints Mary and Buddock ( welsh Budog ?) and they had a chapel  on the site of the present mansion. They owned land in the parishes of Steynton, Hubberston and Herbrandston. By the eighteenth century the then owners became offended by the sound of  the saint and began to call the place “St. Botolphs”.

Some of the earliest records are of the Howells family at this site. A daughter married the Rev Phillip Elliott; a descendant was George Elliot of Laugharne, a surgeon in Milford Haven who married a daughter of the Rev John Grant of Roch. 

c1800  Present mansion built (according to Fenton by General (?) le Hunte!). FJ.

1805      A grandson of George Elliott sold St. Botolphs for 9,000 guineas to a Mr Le Hunte, an Irish gentleman with connections in the county. A Mr. Stokes of Milford was the unsuccessful bidder.

1807      A square mansion built on the chapel site about 100 yards west of the previous house. Sage Le Hunte, his widow, in her will refers to her good friend Anthony Innys Stokes who was to be her executor and trustee for her son.

Mother and son were both dead by 1820 and the estate in the hands of Mr Stokes.

In 1729 Florence Elliott  had married a Nicholas Stokes. Their elder son, Anthony, became Chief Justice of Georgia. Neither his son, Nicholas, nor his daughters, produced children.               

           The younger son, Hugh, lived at Hakin. He owned businesses and equipment in the dockyard. He was HS in 1802 and died in 1822 leaving £100,000 to his son Anthony Innys Stokes, mentioned above, who incorpoated the Stokes arms in the window of their mansion. He and Roch of Butterhill each kept a pack of hounds. William Bowlass Summers of Rosemoor was a fellow hunter.

Anthony Innys Stokes had a large family for whom he was able to provide well. He had inherited stock from his uncle in Georgia. His son Adrian Nicholas John Stokes matriculated at Jesus college, Oxford

1832      Florence, his youngest daughter married William Charles Allen Philipps of St Brides Hill. He was HS in 1844 and died in 1864; she died in 1874 having had no children. Their heir was the Rev Gilbert  Charles Frederick Harries, son of  GJ Harries of Llanunwas.

1851      Adrian Nicholas Stokes was living at St Botolphs with his wife Elizabeth (nee Dumayne, d of a Milford Haven surgeon). They farmed 200 acres but she died at the age of 28 leaving two daughters; their only son had died in infancy. Adrian married secondly Florence Harries of Llanunwas. Their daughter, Cecilia, married Charles Mathias of Lamphey Court. Adrian was HS in 1853. The estate which was entailed to the male line extended to 1,875 acres in 1873; This was very good land  in the parishes of Hubberston and Herbrandson.

Adrian’s heir was his brother Lt Col Anthony Bowen Owen Stokes of Steynton House. He was JP and DL and Chief Constable and was very active in the legal/official world of Milford and Haverfordwest. A son Innys was killed in the 1st world war. He and his wife are buried at Herbranston.

Anthony William John Stokes, their son, succeeded at the age of 41. He had married Emma Ellen Vaughan of Ystradyrallt in Carmarthenshire who inherited that estate from her brother who was a college friend of  her husband. JP and DL (Carms). They had two sons, Anthony b 1883  and Vaughan b 1890. Both were educated at Eton, went into the army and married ladies from away. Both survived the 1st world war but  one was injured and the other invalided out.

Major A.V.W Stokes (Anthony) was a distinguished sportsman of the old school and once rode in the Grand National

Major Anthony decided to sell up at the end of the second world war; he puchased Foley house in Haverfordwest but died in 1947. His widow lived there for a little while. His son Adrian had emigrated and his son likewise. Their daughter Eira had moved to England.

St Botolphs ( Mansion and surrounds only? ) was purchased by a relative (a welsh cousin!), Mrs Lee Roberts who did something to repair the wartime damage and opened a Country club. She soon moved on to make way for her daughter and son-in law Mr and Mrs A Chindley. Later the mansion was sold to Mr and Mrs R Justice, leaving the Chindleys in the mews cottage - the converted coachhouse. - where they kept poultry, bred miniature donkeys and dealt in antiques.

1904      Anthony Stokes came of age and there exists a photograph of the assembled guests on the lawn showing the house before Mrs Stokes had a ballroom built on.

1919    (GC Horticultural Directory and Yearbook)

            Capt. A.V.W. Stokes.  Gardener   J.G. Eastaugh.

1928    Capt. Stokes JP included in list of valued customers in the catalogue of Messenger & Co., 

            Loughborough, horticultural builders, heating engineers, etc. 

1971      Blacksmith’s shop with louvred roof still there; the fine Gothic kennels with ironwork; Cants cottage between house and south lodge where the groom lived “amid the golden elms”. In the farm yard there was once a “union” building where tenants could store their machinery and where functions for tenants were held. Even the tenants from their Carmarthenshire estate would come to pay their rent and dine. The roof collapsed in 1921 under the weight of snow.

Many paintings were made of their family hunters, mostly by Miss Norman and by Miss O’Shea.

There was a “nut walk” of which a little remained in 1971.

About this time oil refinery construction commenced. The property was sold to Mr Beer of Sandyhaven a major contractor. He had offices here and housed workers in the mansion and in caravans on the lawn. Mr Beer has converted the mansion into flats, living with his wife on the ground floor. The coachhouse is separately owned (?) accommodation. Mr Beer is developing properties elsewhere and carries on his other businesses from a prefabricated office on the site.

Visit 11th July 2000.  The owner is very jealous of his privacy but after a longish conversation very kindly showed GH around.

At the south end of the carriage drive is a small lodge called Bucket lodge and a a very modest wooden gateway.  A public footpath sign confirms that there is a pedestrian right of way along the carriageway passing the mansion site and meeting the public road to the north.

No lodge or gateway at the north entrance survives; they were swept away by the roadworks associated with the oil refinery.  GH drove in this way.

There are native trees on each side of the drive. One passes a large entrance on the left with high gate piers and wall into the farmyard and estate workshop area. Some, at least of the buildings on the OS map survive. It was difficult to distinguish the kennels. There is a certain amount of “industrial” rubbish/waste.

Continuing along the drive, on the left is the garden wall of mostly limestone rubblestone at the end of which the lane goes left over a stone bridge and then continues to the right. A branch continues left towards the north side of the mansion with the garden wall on the left; it has a 

pedestrian opening midway along with a modern, low, iron gate. There is no obvious sign of the glass-house shown on the map; there is a ditch along the base of the wall. GH was told that the tiled floor of a glasshouse remains within this SW garden but access was not possible.  The Messenger one?

There is a beautiful view across the lawns to the mansion itself,  These lawns are dotted with the twenty years old trees that the present owner has planted - beech and conifers mostly but including three Nothofagus procera which we were able to have identified (JS). One can see where large elms once stood: from the base of one spring many young trunks.

On the left, after garden wall, the coach house/stable block, now housing. on the right of the entrance to the stable yard are two Quercus ilex, much younger trees than those mentioned below.The garden wall continues in red sandstone through which is a fine arch. A road goes right to the west side of the house past two very large multi-trunked Quercus ilex on the right (which appear to be shown individually on the OS map) and several lime to the left. Further back are other lime, beech and sycamore.

The south east enclosure:  there is a restored lean-to shed along the inside of the south wall with access door from the outside through the wall. Entrance to the enclosure is through a wide red sandstone arch with another similar arch in the north wall leading into the orchard.  The west wall abuts the stables.  The high, free standing, north and east walls are of rough-dressed red sandstone with a coping of small slate surmounted by more sandstone.  

The orchard lies to the north and behind the coachhouse. It contains fine mature apple trees. The path system has disappeared; the owner states that rotovating did not reveal it - but they were not looking for it.

The walls of the kitchen garden to the west of the coachhouse and orchard (16 on map) are of a limestone rubblestone.  Access was not possible.

To the north west again is the home farm complex much of which survives but which was not accessible.

The whole is surrounded by mixed native woodland dominated by sycamore and ash. 

The RCAMW lists the following features (though GH thinks there may have been more):

Carriage drive                                          Substantially little changed.

Lodge ( two ).                                           South lodge called Bucket Lodge.  If there was a north 

                                                                 lodge it has disappeared in roadworks.

Reservoir  ?

Terrace                                                    Broad terrace to south of house. 

Wall

Walled garden                                          Several enclosures as described.

Also on the OS map:

Glasshouses                                             Disappeared
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